Mitigating hydro-meteorological hazard impacts through improved transboundary river management in the Ciliwung River Basin

RIVER
GOVERNANCE
AND FLOOD
MANAGEMENT
ARRANGEMENTS
IN INDONESIA





July 2020













Newton Fund

About the Project

The project Mitigating Hydrometeorological Hazard Impacts Through Improved Transboundary River Management in the Ciliwung River Basin will examine how the current transboundary river management arrangements in the Ciliwung River Basin, Indonesia influence flood hazard impacts. The interdisciplinary project will bring together expertise in flood modelling, disaster risk reduction, urban planning, public policy, and behavioural science with the objective of identifying the environmental, socio-economic, political and organisational landscape associated with flood risk in the Ciliwung River Basin. The results will be used to inform improved transboundary river management arrangements for the Ciliwung Basin and provide a model for urban and peri-urban river basins elsewhere.

This project is supported by the UK Natural Environment Research Council (Project Reference: NE/S003282/1), the Newton Fund, the UK Economic and Social Research Council, and the Ministry of Research, Technology & Higher Education of the Republic of Indonesia (RISTEK-BRIN).

The Newton Fund is now a £735 million fund which, through science and innovation partnerships, promotes the economic development and social welfare of partnering countries. It aims to strengthen science and innovation capacity and unlock further funding through which the UK and partner countries will build strong, sustainable and systemic relationships. It is delivered through 7 UK delivery partners in collaboration with the partner countries. Activities are in three broad areas:

- People: increasing capacity for science and innovation in partner countries.
- Research: research collaborations on development topics.
- Translation: creating collaborative solutions to development challenges and strengthening innovation systems.

For more information visit: www.newtonfund.ac.uk and follow via Twitter: @NewtonFund

Implementing Partners

- Global Disaster Resilience Centre (GDRC) at the University of Huddersfield
- Energy and Environment Research Cluster (EERC) of the Zienkiewicz Centre for Computational Engineering (ZCCE) of the College of Engineering of Swansea University
- School of Architecture, Planning and Policy Development, Center for Coastal and Marine Development & Center for Policy Development at the Institute of Technology Bandung (ITB)
- School of Meteorology Climatology and Geophysics (STMKG)

Supporting Partners

- National Agency for Disaster Management (BNPB), Indonesia
- Indonesian Agency for Meteorological, Climatological and Geophysics (BMKG)
- National Planning and Development Agency-Directorate of Irrigation and Water Infrastructure (BAPPENAS)
- Indonesian Local Disaster Management Organisation (BPBD)
- Major River Basin Authority for Ciliwung and Cisadane Watershed (BBWS)
- BAPPENDA in West Java and DKI Jakarta Provinces

Lead Authors

Georgina Clegg, Richard Haigh, Dilanthi Amaratunga, Harkunti Rahayu

Suggested Citation

Clegg, G., Haigh, R., Amaratunga, D. and Rahayu, H. (2020) River governance and flood management arrangements in Indonesia. July 2020. A Report of the project 'Mitigating hydro meteorological hazard impacts through transboundary river management in the Ciliwung River Basin, Indonesia'.

Contents

۱.	Introduction		
	1.1.	List of acronyms and translations	
2.	Background Context		
	2.1.	Flooding in Indonesia	3
	2.2.	Governance in Indonesia	4
3.	Met	hods	5
4.	Legal/Institutional		6
	4.1.	Legal Frameworks	6
		4.1.1. Disaster Management Law	6
		4.1.2. Water Law	6
		4.1.3. Development and Spatial Planning	7
	4.2.	Horizontal and Vertical Coordination	8
		4.2.1. Vertical	
		4.2.2. Horizontal	
		4.2.3. Coordinating institutions	
	4.3.	Participation	9
5.	Political		11
	5.1.	Political Will	
	5.2.	Capacity	
	5.3.	Sectoral Integration	
6.	Operational I		
	6.1.	Information sharing	13
	6.2.	Climate change adaptation	13
7.	Rive	r Management and Flood Governance in Jakarta	15
8.	Summary and Discussion		
References			18

1. Introduction

This work was conducted as part of the project *Mitigating hydrometeorological hazard impacts through improved transboundary river management in the Ciliwung River Basin*. This UK-Indonesia collaborative project, funded by NERC and Ristekdikti, aims to inform plans for improved transboundary river management to tackle flooding in the Ciliwung Basin, Indonesia.

The aim of this document is to examine the existing arrangements for flood and river management in Indonesia, in order to understand the current state of play and any challenges faced. To achieve this, a review of the literature was conducted. The review applied the project's conceptual framework (Clegg et al., 2019). The framework has three pillars - legal/institutional, political and operational - based on that originally proposed by Savenije and van der Zaag (2000). The current review used the framework to understand the existing flood and river management arrangements in Indonesia.

The report is structured as follows: the background context to flooding and governance arrangements in Indonesia is first given, followed by the methods used to conduct the review. The report is then structured by the three conceptual pillars (legal/institutional, political, operational). A summary and discussion are then provided.

1.1. List of acronyms and translations

Throughout this document acronyms are used to refer to the main actors and some of the key aspects of river and flood management in Indonesia. This section provides an overview of acronyms used and their English and Bahasa Indonesia translations.

- BAPPEDA (Bandan Perencanaan Pembangunan Daerah) Provincial/district development planning agency
- BAPPENAS (Bandan Perencanaan Pembangunan Nasional) National development planning agency
- B(B)WS (Balai (Besar) Wilayah Sungai) River basin authorities
- BKSP (Bandan Kerjasama Pembangunan) Jakarta development planning board
- BNPB (Bandan Nasional Penanggulangan Bencana) National disaster management agency
- BPBD Provincial disaster management agency
- Dewan SDA (Dewan Sumber Daya Air) National water council
- Forum PT Higher education forum for DRR
- Kemen PU PERA (Kementerian Pekerjaan Umum dan Perumahan Rakyat) Ministry of Public Works
- PLANAS-PRB (*Platform Nasional untuk Pengurangan Pisiko Bencana*) National platform for DRR
- RAN-API (Rencana Aksi Nasional Mitigasi dan Adaptasi Perubahan) National Action
 Plan on Climate Change Adaptation
- RPJM (Rencana Pembangunan Jangka Menengah) Medium term development plan
- RPJP (Rencana Pembangunan Jangka Panjang) Long term development plan

- TKPSDA (Tim Koordinasi Pengelolaan Sumber Daya Air) Basin water resources management council
- WS (Wilayah Sungai) River basin management unit

2. Background Context

2.1. Flooding in Indonesia

Indonesia is heavily impacted by flooding on a frequent basis. Flooding across the country can be of fluvial, pluvial or coastal nature. Recent floods have affected large numbers of people and resulted in great economic losses (Djalante and Garschagen, 2017). Over 5.5 million people were affected by riverine flooding alone between 1990 and 2020. Over 6 billion US Dollars of damages were recorded from these floods over the same time period (CRED, 2020). Major flood events in Indonesia are frequently reported in the capital city Jakarta. For example, significant flooding affected the city during January 2020. The floods resulted in 66 deaths and the displacement of 36,000 people (Leung, 2020). However, various regions across the Indonesian archipelago also experience significant flooding. In recent months, floods have been reported in Sumatra, Kalimantan, Sulawesi, Aceh and other parts of Java (FloodList, 2020).

Indonesia has a monsoon climate. Heavy rainfall and associated flooding are experienced most commonly during the peak wet season (December - February) (Tjasyono *et al.*, 2008). Overtime there has been an increase in intense precipitation during the wet season (Siswanto *et al.*, 2015), along with an increase in the frequency of flood events (Fulazzaky, 2014). An increased chance of extreme rainfall amounts across the Southeast Asian region during the wet season has been projected (with greater than 90% probability) (IPCC, 2013). As such, many regions of Indonesia are expected to experience increased flooding in the future.



Figure 1. Residents are evacuated from a flooded area of Jakarta, 1st January 2020 (SOPA Images Limited/Alamy Stock Photo)

2.2. Governance in Indonesia

Indonesia has a decentralised multi-level governance system which was established after reformation of the government in 1999. The country is divided into 34 provinces (*Provinsi*) see Figure 2, each with an elected governor. Provinces are subdivided into rural regencies (*Kabupaten*) and urban cities (*Kota*). The third sub-division is districts (*Kecamatan*), which are further divided into villages. Along with national government, this forms Indonesia's five tier government system.



Figure 2. Provinces of Indonesia (VectorStock)

There are 133 river basin units across Indonesia, known as *Wilayah Sungai (WS)* (Ministerial Regulation No. 11a/PRT/M/2006). Thirteen of these are located within a single district and 51 are located within a single province. 27 WS cross two or more provinces, and five cross the border with neighbouring countries. The remaining 37 are considered 'national WS' under the national government (Fulazzaky, 2014). The decentralised multi-level governance system, combined with many transboundary basins, means that a great deal of coordination is required for effective flood management.

3. Methods

River governance and flood management arrangements in Indonesia were explored through a literature review. The review included both academic and grey literature sources. The literature was retrieved through online searches using Google, Google Scholar and the University of Huddersfield's online library portal. Key word searches included the following words (and in combination): 'disaster management', 'flood', 'flood risk management' 'governance', 'Indonesia', 'river management', 'water management'. The literature was drawn from the relevant fields of disaster risk reduction (DRR), flood risk management (FRM) and water management. Although water management is a broader topic than flooding alone, it provides important context and insights into how river basins are managed. The literature review was supported by the project's conceptual framework. The framework expands on that for the management of shared river basins, originally proposed by Savenije and van der Zaag (2000). The framework has three pillars, legal/institutional, political and operational. The three pillars are used to structure the remainder of this document.



Figure 3. The project team visiting the Ciliwung River, Jakarta (Credit: the authors).

4. Legal/Institutional

4.1. Legal Frameworks

This section highlights some of the key pieces of legislation relevant to flood and river basin management in Indonesia.

4.1.1. Disaster Management Law

Law 24/2007 (Republic of Indonesia, 2007) is Indonesia's disaster management law. The law provides a legal basis for disaster management and concerns all disasters, including flooding. It promotes a more preventative approach, with comprehensive, multi-sector risk reduction, as opposed to responsive management approaches taken previously (Mardiah et al., 2017). At the national level, DRR is managed by BNPB, the disaster management agency. BNPB is responsible for planning and implementing DRR, and coordinating across the areas of preparedness, response, prevention and recovery. There are further local disaster management agencies located at provincial and district level, known as BPBDs. Associated with the disaster management law is the National Plan on Disaster Management (Rencana Nasional Penanggulangan Bencana/Renas PB). Similar provincial and district plans are also prepared (Djalante and Thomalla, 2012; Djalante and Garschagen, 2017; Center for Excellence in Disaster Management and Humanitarian Assistance, 2018).

The law is considered one of the most important pieces of legislation for disaster management in Indonesia (Das and Luthfi, 2017). However, several issues with the law have been identified. One criticism is that the law does not set out roles and responsibilities clearly (BNPB, 2015; Grady et al., 2016). In addition, it has been suggested that the law has a 'policy disconnect' between governance levels, with the national plan not being fully implemented at other levels (Grady et al., 2016). Although local plans are in place, some local governments do not have regulations to implement the plans which has hindered progress in practice (Anantasari et al., 2017).

4.1.2. Water Law

Water related legislation in Indonesia has undergone several changes in recent decades. In 2004, a new water law (7/2004) was introduced replacing the previous law on irrigation (11/1974). However, in 2015 7/2004 was revoked and replaced again with 11/1974. As the irrigation law was outdated in terms of its water resource management principles, the law was expanded upon via several additional regulations (based on law 7/2004) (Asian Development Bank, 2016b; Ariyanti et al., 2020). As of October 2019, a new water resources law (17/2019) has been enacted. The reasons for the changes in water legislation were related to control of water resources. The new law stipulates state control of water resources, and that any non-public use must be licensed (Assegaf et al., 2019).

The following paragraph refers to experiences associated with Water law (7/2004) for an understanding of previous procedures. Water law 7/2004 defined five pillars of Indonesian water resource management. The three main pillars were I. Water conservation, 2. Water utilisation, 3. Control and mitigation of water hazards. There were two additional supporting pillars 4. Community and private sector involvement and 5. Information systems network (Ariyanti et al., 2020). The law was considered to be broadly in line with the principles of Integrated Water Resource Management (IWRM) (Asian Development Bank, 2016b; Ariyanti et al., 2020). For example, it acknowledged the river basin as the relevant scale of management and assumed the principle of "one basin, one plan, one management" (Asian Development Bank, 2016a). Indonesia is divided into river basin units, WS (Wilayah Sungai). A WS is "one or more basins/catchments

under one authority" (Ariyanti et al., 2020). There are 133 WS identified in the presidential decree, and each has an associated river basin authority, a B(B)WS at national level, or Balai PSDA under the provincial government (Ariyanti et al., 2020). For many WS, basin management plans have been prepared. This includes *Pola*, which are strategic framework plans, and more detailed *Rencana* (Asian Development Bank, 2016b). Furthermore, the law also highlights the need for coordination between different stakeholders. For this purpose, a series of water resource management councils were established (see Section 4.2.3 on coordinating institutions).

However, several problems with the water law were identified in a study by the Asian Development Bank (2016a, 2016b). As it was a more generalised framework law, it had associated government regulations that expanded upon it. It has been suggested that the large number of additional regulations overlapped and created a complex picture, which made successful implementation difficult. In general, there has been a great deal of planning for river basin management, however actual implementation has been lacking. For example, *Pola* river basin management plans were not widely applied. The plans were criticised for being overly heavy and of poor quality in some cases, making it difficult to identify and then address the core issues. There was also a lack of clear guidelines for the development of *Pola*, and a lack of clarity on the difference between *Pola* and *Rencana*. As such, there has been less progress on the *Rencana*.

4.1.3. Development and Spatial Planning

Development in Indonesia is led by the development planning process, guided by the national development planning law (25/2004) (Republic of Indonesia, 2004). Development plans are prepared on three timescales, long term development plans (RPJP) (20 years), medium-term development plans (RPJM) (five years) and short-term (one year) plans (Wijaya, 2018). The plans span all government functions and are conducted at national, provincial and local (city/regency) levels. The national development plan is designed to provide a shared vision among stakeholders for 'coordinated' and 'mutually supporting' actions, as set out in the aim and purpose of the plan (I. I.3) (Republic of Indonesia). National development planning is led by the national planning agency BAPPENAS. Their role is to establish national development policies, plans and budgets. They also have a cross-sectoral coordinating role (BAPPENAS, 2020).

Development planning is of importance for flood and river management as it sets out the key priorities to be addressed, thus determines how much attention these aspects receive. The current RPJP (2005-2025) (Republic of Indonesia, 2005) makes several references of the need to consider disasters. For example, it acknowledges the need for quality spatial planning to address vulnerability to hazards. The plan notes that current water management lacks coordinated action at both central government level and among the provinces (II.1 D.1). It further states "the control of the destructive effect of water resources places the priority on the non-construction approach through the conservation of water resources and through the integrated regional management of rivers" (IV.D.29), highlighting the need for coordinated river management. The relevant national priority in the RPJP is IV.1.6 'realizing Indonesia that is beautiful and conserved', where the need of mitigating natural hazards and the management of water resources is highlighted. Although the development plans set out important goals, they do not indicate how these goals should be achieved.

The non-spatial development plans are accompanied by spatial land use plans associated with law 26/2007 on spatial planning. Alignment between the two planning processes is important as they impact one another. However, issues have been identified in terms of integrating the spatial and non-spatial plans, as well as linking the plans from national to provincial and local levels (Handayani et al., 2019). In addition, although spatial planning law states the requirement to consider disasters, there is little guidance on how spatial planning and disaster management should be integrated (Das and Luthfi, 2017). The spatial planning law provides some incentives for compliance, for example revoking of permits and fines (Asian Development Bank, 2016b). Despite this, spatial planning laws suffer from low enforcement and compliance (Grady et al., 2016; Hellman et al., 2018), and the spatial plans are not widely applied in the development of other sectoral plans (Mardiah et al., 2017).

4.2. Horizontal and Vertical Coordination

For effective flood and river management, stakeholders must be able to coordinate their actions. This requires coordination between levels of governance (vertical) and between neighbouring jurisdictions (horizontal) in Indonesia's decentralised governance system. This section describes some of the coordination approaches and challenges.

4.2.1. Vertical

Indonesia has a multi-level governance system, divided into five levels from national to village. Power is shared between these levels of governance (Srikadini et al., 2018). The decentralisation of the governance system provided greater powers to local governments and reduced the role of national and provincial levels (Handayani et al., 2019). However, Grady et al. (2016) suggests that this created a gap at the provincial level, which has prevented DRR policy from being fully connected. As well as in DRR, vertical coordination issues have been identified for CCA, spatial planning and flood management (Djalante and Thomalla, 2012; Handayani et al., 2019). To provide an example, poor vertical coordination was identified as a reason for the delay in the implementation of Jakarta's Eastern Flood Canal, which was hindered due to poor communication between provincial and district levels (Simanjuntak et al., 2012).

4.2.2. Horizontal

Horizontal coordination is particularly important for the management of river basins that cross multiple jurisdictions. The integrated management of rivers at the basin level was set out in Indonesia's 7/2004 water law (see Section 4.1.2). In practice however, there is little river basin level coordination taking place (Sagala et al., 2013). The lack of basin level action has been associated with the decentralised governance system. Indonesian local governments have their own powers, and are able to create their own plans and regulations. Although this has been positive in allowing local governments to address the diverse needs of local areas, it has led to fragmented approaches to development between areas (Firman, 2014), and has posed a particular challenge for river management (Dewi and van Ast, 2017; Rahayu et al., 2019). In their discussion of Jakarta floods, Sagala et al. (2013) suggest that elected officials know there is a need for coordination with neighbouring provinces, however, it has not taken place as it is not known who should take responsibility for the process. Similar issues coordinating between neighbouring areas on DRR has been noted (Mardiah et al., 2017). In addition, it has been identified that existing coordination requirements in place are not detailed or sufficient enough (Firman, 2014; Mardiah et al., 2017). For example, Firman (2014) identifies the inter-local-government partnership regulation as being too simplistic to address the complexity of coordination.

4.2.3. Coordinating institutions

Specialised institutions exist to facilitate stakeholder coordination. PLANAS-PRB is the national platform for DRR. The platform brings together different stakeholders, including ministries and agencies, civil society organisations, NGOs, private sector organisations and universities (Djalante and Thomalla, 2012; BNPB, 2015; Grady et al., 2016). The platform has been identified as beneficial for integrating the views and interests of different stakeholders (Mardiah et al., 2017). However, the platform has faced some challenges. PLANAS-PRB is mostly engaged in policy evaluation, and not development, which limits the scope of their influence (Srikadini et al., 2018). The platform has also been identified to suffer from funding and resource issues (Djalante, 2012; Grady et al., 2016). There are further DRR coordination platforms, including the Consortium for Disaster Education (CDE) that coordinates DRR education, and the UNTWG-DRR, for coordination of UN actors for DRR in Indonesia. The different forums themselves have been noted to have good levels of interaction between them (Djalante, 2012).

Coordinating institutions also exist for water management. At the national level there is the national water council (DSDA) which is composed of government and non-government actors (DSDA, 2020). For each WS a basin water resource authority has been established, known as BBWS (under national government) or Balai PSDA (under the provincial government). These organisations have mandates for water resource management. Further coordinating institutions were established at basin level, known as TKPSDA. These act as multi-sector, multi-actor councils for water management. The national and provincial water councils are mandatory (under 7/2004), however the basin councils are not. As of 2016, there were only 34 TKPSDA in place. In addition, it has been identified that BBWS under the central government have greater capacity in terms of resources than their provincial counterparts because of the support the central government provides (Asian Development Bank, 2016b).

4.3. Participation

Several of the legislative acts noted in Section 4.1 make reference to participation of the public, including the disaster management law (Das and Luthfi, 2017) and the water law (Asian Development Bank, 2016b). However, in most cases, this has not led to the implementation of participation widely.



Figure 4. A volunteer helps to evacuate residents in a flooded area of Jakarta, January 2020 (Xinhua/ Alamy Stock Photo)

Law 24/2007 on disaster management states that the public have the right to participate in disaster management decision making (Anantasari et al., 2017). Das and Luthfi (2017) note that despite this reference to participation, the law does not provide any specific guidelines on how it should be implemented. They also identify that the rationale for participation is not always to increase fairness and effectiveness, but for cost reasons. A similar situation was seen with water law 7/2004. Although the law made reference to public participation, it did not foster extensive participation in practice. Reasons cited for this were a lack of knowledge of communities and a lack of opportunities to participate presented by the water management authorities (Asian Development Bank, 2016a). Furthermore, participation if

often more short term, as practitioners are limited by their funding, meaning that engagement does not continue once projects have ended (Lassa et al., 2018). The lack of participation in water management is acknowledged in the RPJP (2005-2025), which states "...the awareness and participation of the general public, as one of the prerequisites for ensuring the sustainability of a water management pattern, have not yet reached the desired level because of their still limited opportunity and capacity" (Republic of Indonesia). In general, Indonesia's approach has been predominantly top-down, which means there has been relatively little opportunity for community participation (Garschagen et al., 2018; Hellman et al., 2018). However, in the absence of government-led initiatives, the community have been active in river management in a more bottom-up form. For example, community groups are engaged in activities such as river maintainence and waste clearing (Padawangi and Douglass, 2015; Tampi et al., 2017). Further information on community participation, specifically related to flood early warning in the Ciliwung Basin can be found in the participation in early warning project report (Clegg et al., 2020).

5. Political

5.1. Political Will

The prevalence of coordinating institutions for DRR and water management in Indonesia suggests there is political will for coordination of efforts. Djalante *et al.* (2013) suggest that the need for integration across sectors, such as between DRR, CCA and development is acknowledged by officials at the national level. However, the same political will is not seen at sub-national levels. As local governments have their own powers, they are able to decide on their own priorities, and also the degree to which they are willing to cooperate with neighbouring areas. Firman (2014) describes local governments as 'inward looking', in that they are focused on their own priorities and are not interested in working with others.

5.2. Capacity

The decentralised governance system has given responsibility for implementing DRR to sub-national levels. However, capacity issues have been noted, particularly at the municipal and district level, which has hindered practical implementation. In terms of DRR, it has been identified that local disaster management agencies (BPBDs) face significant resource constraints. They experience high staff turnover and often lack experienced staff. This has been associated with the view that BPBD is unpopular, and is known to be under-resourced, therefore does not attract skilled staff to the roles (Grady et al., 2016; Mardiah et al., 2017; Srikadini et al., 2018). For FRM, it has been identified that there is a lack of capacity to conduct required analyses for the assessment of suitable flood measures. For example, local governments do not always have the capability to carry out risk assessments or to use them in planning (Anantasari et al., 2017). This means that plans sometimes do not fully address the problem (Fulazzaky, 2014). Financial constraints have also been identified. For example, Handayani et al. (2019) note that in some cases, the budget allocated for a ministry/agency does not match the level of responsibility that they have for implementing a programme. This limits the capacity of these agencies to meet their responsibilities.

External sources of support have been significant drivers of progress in some cases, in that they have helped to provide financing and skills (see Section 6.2 for an example of how the ACCCRN has supported CCA). This has led to some sub-national governments demonstrating greater success than others (Djalante and Thomalla, 2012). Differences in capacity of jurisdictions has also been related to the process of decentralisation, and quality of local leadership (Firman, 2014; Grady et al., 2016). This can result in capacity disparities across jurisdictional boarders which can present coordination issues (Djalante et al., 2013).

5.3. Sectoral Integration

Flood and river management cut across different sectors. The Asian Development Bank (2016a) identify 14 different ministries with responsibilities for water management at the national level in Indonesia. However, a lack of coordination between these actors has been noted. This is exemplified by the IWRM approach taken. The three main pillars for IWRM in Indonesia are: I. Water conservation, 2. Water utilisation, 3. Water hazards. At national level, each of the three main pillars is led by a different ministry or agency. Water conservation is led by the Ministry of Forestry and Environment, water utilisation by Ministry of Public Works, and water hazards by BNPB (Ariyanti et al., 2020). A similar picture can be seen in disaster management. Handayani et al. (2019) identify various relevant agencies including the planning board, public works, BNPB and the environment agency.

The split of responsibilities across different ministries and agencies has led to coordination issues within sectors. This leads to further issues in cross-sector collaboration. It has been noted that for flood management, responsible agencies for DRR, CCA and urban development work to different frameworks and lack regular coordination. In addition, the responsibilities of different sectors overlap, particularly in terms of flood management. Tension between sectors have been noted, due to each trying to establish themselves as the lead in overlapping areas which is not conducive to cooperation (Datta et al., 2011; Srikadini et al., 2018). Some cases of positive coordination have been noted. Anantasari et al. (2017) identify that there is good coordination between sectoral agencies at the local government level. For example, they show that BPBD, regional public works (PU) and regional development planning agency (BAPPEDA) coordinate, however this is mostly during emergency response and not on a regular basis. Wijaya et al. (2017) discusses the challenges faced in integrating CCA, DRR and spatial planning sectors. They identify that there is no guideline for integration and a lack of institutional capacity, particularly at city/ regency level. Integration is also hindered by data availability, quality and access issues, as well as the data handling skills of local officers in some districts.

6. Operational

6.1. Information sharing

For the purposes of information and data sharing at national level, BNPB hosts DIBI, a disaster and data collation platform. The system is used to support decision making, for example it has been used to create a disaster-prone area index for decision making purposes. DIBI have also been established at the provincial level (BNPB, 2015). Another initiative for data and information sharing is Forum PT. The aim of the forum is to increase information sharing and the exchange of experience between tertiary and research institutions. Forum PT is also part of the national platform PLANAS-PRB, thus are able to share their research and expertise with other DRR stakeholders (BNPB and UNDP).

Despite these efforts to share data and information, there are issues surrounding data availability and data handling capacity in some instances. A lack of data access and availability have been noted to pose a barrier to successful consideration of disasters in spatial plans. For example, there is a lack of suitable hazard maps for cities and regencies (Wijaya et al., 2017). Some local governments have limited capacity and have struggled to conduct data tasks, such as multi-hazard risk assessments. As of the DRR baseline status report in 2015, 33 or the 34 provinces had conducted multi-hazard risk assessments, but only 20% of districts and cities had done so (BNPB, 2015). Limited data handling skills of staff at city and regency level has also presented barriers to information being used effectively (Sunarharum et al., 2014; Wijaya et al., 2017). For example, data for the DIBI is collected by districts and then shared with provincial/ national levels to be incorporated into higher level DIBI (Wibowo, 2019). However, there have been difficulties obtaining data from some of the districts (BNPB, 2015).

In terms of early warning, the Ministry of Public Works and Public Housing (PUPR) has responsibility for flood early warning implementation. BMKG and BNPB are also involved in the early warning process. However, there are challenges in information coordination and exchange between these ministries (BNPB, 2015) (p33).

6.2. Climate change adaptation

Indonesia has in place at the national level a National Action Plan for Climate Change Adaptation (RAN-API) (BAPPENAS, 2012). Although RAN-API is considered to provide a good basis for CCA in Indonesia, implementation of the plan has been hindered. This is due to a lack of coordination between stakeholders during the development of the plan, and during its implementation (Djalante and Thomalla, 2012; Rahman, 2017; Climate Scorecard, 2018). Furthermore, the RAN-API is not legally binding, therefore there is no incentive for ministries and local governments to take it into account in their work. There is also no lead ministry to ensure that the plan is being implemented (Rahman, 2017; Lassa, 2019). As discussed in Section 5.2, capacity issues within local governments have also impacted their ability to fully realise all their responsibilities on CCA (Nugraha and Lassa, 2018). Furthermore, CCA has been noted to be not well integrated into other sectors, e.g. spatial planning or DRR (Mardiah et al., 2017; Wijaya et al., 2017).

In some cases, cities have received external support for developing more local level CCA strategies. For example, Semarang City developed a City Resilience Strategy with the support of the Asian Cities Climate Change Resilience Network (ACCCRN) (Lassa, 2019). Another Indonesian city, Bandar Lampung, has also been part of the ACCCRN (Nugraha and Lassa, 2018). These cities have provided a test bed for adaptation strategies. Nugraha and Lassa (2018) discuss how CCA has been established in Bandar Lampung under the ACCCRN. In Bandar Lampung a City Team was established as part of the project.

The City Team was a multi-stakeholder group composed of representatives from universities, NGOs and officials from BAPPEDA and BPBD, among others. The City Team provided a platform for interaction between the different stakeholders. Over time, the City Team established itself and developed its role to provide greater facilitation of adaptation projects. Additional leadership from the city mayor, who was involved in the City Team, further supported the initiative. The City Team was noted to have provided good stakeholder coordination, knowledge integration, and to have built trust between different actors. The Team was also able to coordinate vertically with provincial and national governments. However, it still faced challenges, such as a limited city budget, a lack of climate change regulations at the provincial level, as well as a lack of action in neighbouring areas.

7. River Management and Flood Governance in Jakarta

Jakarta, the capital city of Indonesia, is heavily impacted by frequent flooding. The causes of flooding in Jakarta are a complex mix of bio-physical, socio-political and governance related challenges (Goh, 2019). In terms of the governance structure, DKI Jakarta is a province with special status, led by a governor (Sunarharum et al., 2014). There are five municipalities within the province (South, East, Central West and North) (see Figure 5), each with a mayor (Simanjuntak et al., 2012). As a city with provincial status, Jakarta has greater decentralised power than other cities. This section provides an overview of some of the flood and river governance arrangements and challenges specific to Jakarta.



Figure 5. Municipalities in the Greater Jakarta area (VectorStock)

Jakarta has its own development coordination board, known as BKSP. The role of BKSP is to plan, coordinate, and monitor urban development in the region (Ward et al., 2013). However, it has been suggested that BKSP has limited authority and power, so cannot influence decision making or ensure implementation (Sagala et al., 2013; Firman, 2014). Similarly, several other institutions in Jakarta have coordination roles for flood and river management. This includes DSDA, the BBWS and TKPSDA. However, it has been reported that they have a lack authority to enforce (Dewi and van Ast, 2017). A lack of coordination between stakeholders was identified as one of the key barriers to achieving a flood resilient community in Jakarta, and it is suggested that addressing this problem will be key for flood resilience in the city (Dwirahmadi et al., 2019). Problems in coordinating flood management between different actors in Jakarta has been linked

to several issues including lack of clarity about roles and responsibilities, financial constraints, and a lack of structured coordination (Dewi and van Ast, 2017). A lack of coordination with neighbouring areas is also noted. This is not linked to the need not being recognised, but to a lack of clarity on who should lead the process (Sagala *et al.*, 2013). The leadership and political will provided by Jakarta governors has been noted to have impacted how much action on flooding has been taken in the city (Sagala *et al.*, 2018). Conflicts of interest have also posed barriers to flood management. For example, this has been a feature of debates on the proposed giant sea wall project (Garschagen *et al.*, 2018).

Jakarta has its own spatial plan and detailed spatial plan that set out development aims for each of Jakarta's districts. The spatial plan includes an assessment of the areas of the city at risk from flooding. The plan includes strategies primarily targeted at increasing the drainage capacity of the city. Therefore, approaches are largely structural in nature (Drestalita and Saputra, 2019).

Jakarta also has some of its own information sharing systems in place. For example, DIMS (disaster information management system), operated by BPBD, allows the agency to share information with other disaster management agencies for timely decision making. Another flood information sharing platform is PetaBencana. The online platform allows updated information on flooding in parts of Java. It allows the public to submit reports, crowdsourcing up-to-date information (Center for Excellence in Disaster Management and Humanitarian Assistance, 2018).



Figure 6. Large parts of Jakarta city were flooded during the severe 2002 event (REUTERS/Alamy Stock Photo)

8. Summary and Discussion

The aim of this document was to review the current arrangements for flood and river management in Indonesia. It sought to understand the current arrangements, and discuss the key challenges faced.

Indonesia has a national legal framework for flood and river management through the disaster and water management laws. A great deal of emphasis has been placed on disaster management since the introduction of the law in 2007. Progress has also been made in water management, with the water law being based on IWRM principles, which is key for coordinated basin-wide management (Varis et al., 2014). There are also specialised institutions dedicated to planning and management in both of these fields. Planning for disaster and water management is an area where significant progress has been made. Various planning processes are conducted across the different levels of governance. The long term RPJP provides an overarching framework, and the inclusion of disasters and water resource management in this plan suggests an acknowledgement of the need to address these issues. The abundance of multi-stakeholder platforms and forums for various sectors would also suggest acknowledgement of the need to coordinate.

On paper, Indonesia would appear to have a strong legal, institutional and planning basis for disaster/flood and river management. However, recurrent problems are highlighted throughout this review that prevent the plans from being implemented effectively. One significant issue is coordinating the work of the many different institutions, both vertically and horizontally. River and flood management are inherently crosscutting in nature; however, cross-sector collaboration appears particularly challenging within Indonesia's complex multi-level governance system. This is in addition to the split of sectoral responsibilities across different agencies. While mechanisms for coordination between DRR actors (e.g. PLANAS-PRB) and water resource management actors (e.g. water councils) exist, there would appear to be less opportunities for cross sector collaboration. For example, from this review it is difficult to discern what collaboration takes place between water management and disaster management authorities. While there would appear to have been a great deal of emphasis placed on the integration of disaster management with other related aspects, such as CCA and development and spatial planning in the literature, there is little literature available on the links between DRR and water management. Both are of importance from a transboundary river and flood management perspective.

Another recurring issue is the translation of plans into practical implementation. This can be linked to a series of challenges. Although national documents state the need to coordinated action on water management and disaster management, the guidance provided on how this should take place is limited. This makes it unclear how practical implementation should be approached. Capacity issues would also appear to be a challenge, relating to financial and human resource aspects, particularly at the sub-national levels who are responsible for implementation. Political will and leadership at the sub-national levels would also appear to be less conducive for coordinated action. It will be of importance for Indonesia to tackle coordination and capacity challenges for transboundary flood management issues to be managed effectively.

References

- Anantasari, E., Daly, M., Glassey, P., Grace, E., Coomer, M. & Woods, R. (2017) Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR) Capacity and Capability of Local Government in Indonesia. *In*: Djalante, R., Thomalla, F., Garschagen, M. & Shaw, R. (eds.) *Disaster Risk Reduction in Indonesia: Progress, Challenges and Issues*. Springer:
- Ariyanti, V., Edelenbos, J. & Scholten, P. (2020) Implementing the integrated water resources management approach in a volcanic river basin: a case study of Opak Sub-Basin, Indonesia. *Area Development and Policy.* 10.1080/23792949.2020.1726785.
- Asian Development Bank (2016a) Indonesia Country Water Assessment. Available: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/183339/ino-water-assessment.pdf.
- Asian Development Bank (2016b) *River Basin Management Planning in Indonesia: Policy and Practice.* Manila, Philippines.
- Assegaf, I. S., Satwika, K. & Siregar, A. (2019) *Indonesia:Wading Through Indonesia's New Water Resources Law* [Online]. Assegaf Hamzah & Partners. Available: https://www.mondaq.com/water/863448/wading-through-indonesia39s-new-water-resources-law [Accessed 7 July 2020].
- BAPPENAS (2012) National Action Plan for Climate Change Adaptation (RAN-API) Synthesis Report. Available: https://www.bappenas.go.id/files/2913/4985/2794/national-action-plan-for-climate-change-adaptation-ran-api-synthesis-report__20121226163242__0.pdf.
- BAPPENAS (2020) *Role and Function of Bappenas* [Online]. Kementerian PPN/Bappenas. Available: https://www.bappenas.go.id/en/profil-bappenas/tupoksi/ [Accessed 5 July 2020].
- BNPB (2015) Indonesia's Disaster Risk Management Baseline Status Report 2015. Towards identifying national and local priorities for the implementation of the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction (2015-2030). Available: https://www.preventionweb.net/files/50832_5083220161031indobaselinereportfina.pdf.
- BNPB and UNDP Lessons Learned: Indonesia's Partnership for Disaster Risk Reduction. The National Platform for Disaster Risk Reduction and the University Forum. Safer Communities through Disaster Risk Reduction in Development Programme. Programme, U. N. D. Available: https://www.humanitarianlibrary.org/sites/default/files/2013/07/Lessons%20Learned%20Indonesias%20 partnership%20for%20Disaster%20Risk%20Reduction.pdf.
- Center for Excellence in Disaster Management and Humanitarian Assistance (2018) Indonesia Disaster Management Reference Handbook. Available: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/Indonesia_2018-0618v1.0.pdf.
- Clegg, G., Haigh, R., Amaratunga, D., Karunarathna, H. U., Rahayu, H. P. & Septiadi, D. (2019) A Conceptual Framework for Flood Impact Mitigation Through Transboundary River Management. Project report.
- Clegg, G., Haigh, R., Amaratunga, D. & Rahayu, H. P. (2020) A Literature Review on Community Participation in Flood Early Warning. Mitigating Hydrometeorological hazard impacts through improved transboundary river management in the ciliwung river basin.
- Climate Scorecard (2018) *Indonesia's National Action Plan on Climate Change Adaptation* [Online]. Climate Scorecard. Available: https://www.climatescorecard.org/2018/08/indonesias-national-action-plan-on-climate-change-adaptation/ [Accessed 8 July 2020].
- CRED (2020) EM-DAT The International Disaster Database. In: Cred, C. F. R. O.T. E. O. D.-. (ed.). Online.

- Das, A. & Luthfi, A. (2017) Disaster Risk Reduction in Post-Decentralisation Indonesia: Institutional Arrangements and Changes. *In:* Djalante, R., Garschagen, M., Thomalla, F. & Shaw, R. (eds.) *Disaster Risk Reduction in Indonesia: Process, Challenges and Issues.* Switzerland: Springer.
- Datta, A., Jones, H., Febriany, V., Harris, D., Kumala Dewi, R., Wild, L. & Young, J. (2011) The political economy f policy making in Indonesia: Opportunities for improving the demand and use of knowledge. Working Paper 340. Available: https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/7531.pdf.
- Dewi, B. R. K. & van Ast, J. A. (2017) Institutional Arrangements for Integrated Flood management of the Ciliwung-Cisadane River basin, Jakarta Metropolitan Area, Indonesia. *In*: Van Dijk, M. P., Edelenbos, J. & Van Rooujen, K. (eds.) *Urban Governance in the Realm of Complexity*. Rugby, UK: Practical Action Publishing.
- Djalante, R. (2012) Adaptative governance and resilience: the role of multi-stakeholder platforms in disaster risk reduction. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*. 12, 2923-2942.
- Djalante, R. & Garschagen, M. (2017) A Review of DisasterTrend and Disaster Risk Governance in Indonesia: 1900-2015. *In:* Djalante, R., Garschagen, M., Thomalla, F. & Shaw, R. (eds.) *Disaster Risk Reduction in Indoensia: Progress, Challenges and Issues.* Springer.
- Djalante, R., Holley, C., Thomalla, F. & Carnegie, M. (2013) Pathways for adaptive and integrated disaster resilience. *Natural Hazards*. 69, 2105-2135.
- Djalante, R. & Thomalla, F. (2012) Disaster Risk Reduction and Climate Change Adaptation in Indonesia: Institutional challenges and opportunities for integration. *International Journal of Disaster Resilience in the Built Environment.* 3, (2) 166-180.
- Drestalita, N. C. & Saputra, R.T. (2019) The Jakarta Detailed Spatial Plan evaluation based on sustainable development principles. *CITIES 2018: Spatial Economic Transport Interaction for Sustainable Development*. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Sciences.
- DSDA (2020) Whater Resources Council: About Us [Online]. Available: https://www.dsdan.go.id/tentang/struktur-organisasi-dewan-sumber-daya-air-nasional [Accessed 15 2020].
- Dwirahmadi, F., Rutherford, S., Phung, D. & Chu, C. (2019) Understanding the Operational Concept of a Flood-Resilient Urban Community in Jakarta, Indonesia, from the Perspectives of Disaster Risk Reduction, Climate Change Adaptation and Development Agencies. *International Journal of Environmental Reseach and Public Health.* 16, (3993).
- Firman, T. (2014) Inter-local-government partnership for urban management in decentralizing Indonesia: from below or above? Kartamantul (Greater Yogyakarta) and Jabodetabek (greater Jakarta) compared. *Space and Polity.* 18, (3) 215-232.
- FloodList (2020) *Indonesia* [Online]. Available: http://floodlist.com/tag/indonesia [Accessed 10 July 2020].
- Fulazzaky, M.A. (2014) Challenges of Integrated Water Resource Management in Indonesia. *Water.* 6, 2000-2020.
- Garschagen, M., Surtiari, G. A. K. & Harb, M. (2018) Is Jakarta's New Flood Risk Reduction Strategy Transformational? *Sustainability*. 10, (8) 2934.
- Goh, K. (2019) Urban Waterscapes: The Hydro-politics of flooding in a sinking city. International Journal of *Urban and Regional Research*. 43, (2).

- Grady, A., Gersonius, B. & Makarigakis, A. (2016) Taking Stock of Decentralised Disaster Risk Reduction in Indonesia. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*. 16, (9) 2145-2157.
- Handayani, W., Fisher, M. R., Rudiarto, I., Setyono, J. S. & Foley, D. (2019) Operationalizing resilience: A content analysis of flood disaster planning in two coastal cities in Central Java, Indonesia. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*. 35, (101073).
- Hellman, J., Thynell, M. & van Voorst, R. (2018) Jakarta: Claiming Spaces and Rights in the City Routledge.
- IPCC (2013) Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Lassa, J. (2019) Negotiating Institutional Pathways for Sustaining Climae Change Resilience and Risk Governance in Indonesia. *Climate*. 7, (8) 95.
- Lassa, J., Boli, Y., Nakmofa, Y., Fanggidae, S., Ofong, A. & Leonis, H. (2018) Twenty years of community-based disaster risk reduction experience from a dryland village in Indonesia. *Jàmbá: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies*. 10, (1) 502.
- Leung, H. 2020. 66 People Have Died in Indoensia's Devastating Floods. Here's What to Know. Time.
- Mardiah, A. N. R., Lovett, J. C. & Evanty, N. (2017) Toward Integrated and Inclusive Disaster Risk Reduction in Indonesia: Review of Regulatory Frameworks and Institutional Networks. *In:* Djalante, R., Garschagen, M., Thomalla, F. & Shaw, R. (eds.) *Disaster Risk Reduction in Indonesia: Progress, Challenges and Issues*. Springer International.
- Nugraha, E. & Lassa, J. (2018) Towards endogenous disaster and climate adaptation policy making in Indonesia. *Disaster Prevention and Management*. 27, (2) 228-242.
- Padawangi, R. & Douglass, M. (2015) Water, Water Everywhere: Toward Participatory Solutions to Chronic Urban Flooding in Jakarta. *Pacific Affairs*. 88, (3) 517-550.
- Rahayu, H. P., Haigh, R., Amaratunga, D., Kombaitan, B., Khoirunnisa, D. & V, P. (2019) A micro scale study of climate change adaptation and disaster risk reduction in coastal urban strategic planning for the Jakarta. *International Journal of Disaster Resilience in the Built Environment*. 11, (1) 119-133.
- Rahman, A. B. (2017) *Mainstreaming Climate Change Adaptation in a Developing Contry Context: an Indonesian Case Study.* PhD, Curtin University.
- Republic of Indonesia (2004) Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 25 of 2004 on the National Development Planning System Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 25 of 2004 on the National Development Planning System
- Republic of Indonesia (2005) Appendix to Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 17 of 2007 on the 2005-2025 Long-term National Development Plan. Appendix to Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 17 of 2007 on the 2005-2025 Long-term National Development Plan.
- Republic of Indonesia (2007) Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 24 of 2007 Concerning Disaster Management. Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 24 of 2007 Concerning Disaster Management. Available: https://www.refworld.org/pdfid/5a26b1a64.pdf.
- Sagala, S., Lassa, J., Yasaditama, H. & Hudalah, D. 2013. The Evolution of Risk and Vulnerability in Greater Jakarta: Contesting Government Policy in Dealing with a Megacity's Exposure to Flooding. An academic response to Jakarta Floods in January 2013. *Issue 2 of IRGSC working paper series* [Online]. [Accessed January 2013.

- Sagala, S., Syahbid, M. & Wibisono, H. (2018) The Role of Leaders in Risk Governance in Jakarta. *In:* Hellman, J., Thynell, M. & Van Voorst, R. (eds.) *Jakarta: Claiming Spaces and Rights in the City.* 1 ed. London: Routledge.
- Savenije, H. H. G. & van der Zaag, P. (2000) Conceptual Framework for the Management of Shared River Basins; with special reference to the SADC and EU. *Water Policy*. 2, (2000) 9-45.
- Simanjuntak, I., Frantzeskaki, N., Enserink, B. & Ravesteijn, W. (2012) Evaluating Jakarta's flood defence governance: the impact of political and institutional reforms. *Water Policy*. 14, 561-580.
- Siswanto, van Oldenborgh, G. J., van der Schrier, G., Lenderink, G. & van den Hurk, B. (2015) Trends in Highdaily Precipitation Events in Jakarta and the Flooding of January 2014. *In:* Stephanie C. Herring, Martin P. Hoerling, James P. Kossin, Thomas C. Peterson & Peter A. Stott (eds.) *Explaining extreme* evens of 2014 from a climate perspective. American Meteorological Society.
- Srikadini, A. G., Hilhorst, D. & van Voorst, R. (2018) Disaster Risk Governance in Indonesia and Myanmar: The Practice of Co-Governance. *Politics and Governance*. 6, (3).
- Sunarharum, T. M., Sloan, M. & Susilawati, C. (2014) Re-framing planning decision-making: Increasing flood resilience in Jakarta. *International Journal of Disaster Resilience in the Built Environment*. 5, (3) 230-242.
- Tampi, D. M., Sumadio, W., Sumabrata, J., Anggiat, J. & Suyanti, E. (2017) Bottom up approach: KANCIL, the strive of local informal communities. *In:* Brebbia & Sendra (eds.) *The Sustainable City XII.* WIT Transactions on Ecology and the Environment.
- Tjasyono, H. K. B., Gernowo, R., Sri Woro, B. H. & Ina, J. (2008) The Character of Rainfall in the Indonesian Monsoon. *International Symposium on Equatorial Monsoon System*. Yogyakarta, Indonesia.
- Varis, O., Enckell, K. & Keskinen, M. (2014) Integrated Water Resources Management: Horizontal and Vertical Explorations and the 'Water in All Policies' Approach. *International Journal of Water Resources Development*. 30, (3) 433-444.
- Ward, P.J., Pauw, W. P., van Buuren, M.W. & Marfai, M.A. (2013) Governance of flood risk management in a time of climate change: The cases of Jakarta and Rotterdam. *Environmental Politics*. 22, (3) 518-536.
- Wibowo, A. (2019) *Building Disaster Database in Indonesia: Disaster Data and Information Indonesia* (DIBI) [Online]. UNESCAP. Available: https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/6_Building_Disaster_Database_Indonesia_DRSF3-5Dec19.pdf [Accessed 15 July 2020].
- Wijaya, N. (2018) Disaster Risk Reduction and Climate Change Adaptation Integration into Peri-Urban Development Planning: A Case Study of Bandung Metropolitan Area, Indonesia. *Ist UPI International Geography Seminar 2017*. IOP Publishing.
- Wijaya, N., Bisri, M. B. F., Aritenang, A. F. & Mariany, A. (2017) Spatial Planning, Disaster Risk Reduction, and Climate Change Adaptation Integration in Indonesia: Progress, Challenges, and Approach. *In:* Djalante, R., Thomalla, F., Garschagen, M. & Shaw, R. (eds.) *Disaster Risk Reduction in Indonesia: Progress, Challenges and Issues.* Springer.